FILED

SEP 08, 2015

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

No. 32507-5-III IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STATE OF WASI	HINGTON,
	Plaintiff/Respondent,
vs.	
JOHNATHON M.	. T. FLORES,
	Defendant/Appellant.
	Appellant's Brief

DAVID N. GASCH WSBA No. 18270 P.O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Appellant

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Flores was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to object to numerous questions asked by the prosecutor on direct examination that were leading and/or elicited improper hearsay.
- 2. Mr. Flores was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to object to details of a traffic stop and subsequent arrest of Jesse Flores.
- 3. Mr. Flores was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to ask the alleged victim about previous statements that were contrary to his testimony.
- 4. Mr. Flores was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel because his trial attorney was not yet qualified under CrR 3.1, Standards for Indigent Defense, to conduct a trial involving two Class A felonies without supervision.
- 5. The cumulative deficiencies of defense counsel's representation require reversal.
- 6. The record does not support the finding Mr. Flores has the current or future ability to pay the imposed legal financial obligations.

7. The trial court erred when it ordered Mr. Flores to pay a \$100 DNA-collection fee.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Was Mr. Flores denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to object to numerous questions asked by the prosecutor on direct examination that were leading and/or elicited improper hearsay?
- 2. Was Mr. Flores denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to object to details of a traffic stop and subsequent arrest of Jesse Flores?
- 3. Was Mr. Flores denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to ask the alleged victim on cross examination about previous statements contrary to his testimony, thus barring defense counsel from impeaching the victim's testimony through other testimony showing prior inconsistent statements?
- 4. Was Mr. Flores denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel because his trial attorney was not yet qualified under CrR 3.1, Standards for Indigent Defense, to conduct a trial involving two Class A felonies without supervision?
- 5. Even if this Court should decide some of the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are not prejudicial under *Strickland*, do

the cumulative deficiencies of defense counsel's representation require reversal?

- 6. Since the directive to pay LFO's was based on an unsupported finding of ability to pay, should the matter be remanded for the sentencing court to make individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future ability to pay before imposing LFOs?
- 7. Does the mandatory \$100 DNA-collection fee authorized under RCW 43.43.7541 violate substantive due process when applied to defendants who do not have the ability or likely future ability to pay the fine?
- 8. Does the mandatory \$100 DNA-collection fee authorized under RCW 43.43.7541 violate equal protection when applied to defendants who have previously provided a sample and paid the \$100 DNA-collection fee?
- 9. If the Washington state patrol crime laboratory already has a DNA sample from an individual for a qualifying offense, does the trial court abuse its discretion when it orders a defendant to submit to yet another DNA collection?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Johnathon Flores¹ was convicted by a jury of first degree robbery and first degree assault. CP 95-98. During his case in chief, the prosecutor asked numerous leading questions of State's witnesses on direct examination without objection. RP 142, 147-48, 181, 197, 200, 245-64, 285-95, 311-17, 324-25. The prosecutor also elicited multiple hearsay statements on direct examination from the State's witnesses without objection. RP 132-34, 140-41, 186, 240, 311-17, 321-25. The prosecutor had the State's final witness, Detective Russ Tallant, read verbatim a large portion of a recorded statement the victim provided to the police. RP 321-25. There was no hearsay objection by defense counsel. *Id*.

The combined testimony of the various State's witnesses implicated Mr. Flores as the co-perpetrator of an assault and robbery against the victim, Jeff Weitman. RP 129-327. Defense counsel's cross examination of the vast majority of the State's witnesses lasted one minute or less. RP 135, 150-51, 171, 176-77, 241, 319-21. Defense counsel did not ask the victim about previous statements he made that were contrary to his testimony. RP 207-12.

¹ Future reference to Johnathon flores will be "Mr. Flores." His brother, Jesse Flores will be referred to as "Jesse Flores" to avoid confusion.

The defense in its case sought to call Bob Gaines, the public defender investigator, to impeach the statements of the victim. Mr. Gaines would testify that the victim told him a different version of the incident, including that there was no physical contact. RP 365-66. The State objected to this testimony arguing it would be improper impeachment to allow Gaines' testimony, since defense counsel did not ask the victim about any statements he gave to the investigator when he cross-examined him. RP 371-72. The Court agreed and sustained the objection. RP 372-74.

The Court also sustained on that same basis the State's objection to defense counsel calling Michaela Flores who would testify that the victim had told her Mr. Flores was not the perpetrator. RP 375-77. Defense counsel then moved to recall the victim. The State objected arguing under ER 607 and *State v. Lavaris*² it is improper to call a witness solely to introduce impeachment testimony that is otherwise inadmissible. RP 378-80. The Court sustained the objection and also noted the witness had been excused, was not subpoenaed by the defense, and defense counsel never reserved the right to recall the witness. *Id*.

² 106 Wn.2d 340, 721 P.2d 515 (1986).

The Law Office of [Melissa] MacDougall and [Michael] Prince, the Okanogan County Contract Indigent Defender, was appointed by the superior court to represent Mr. Flores on May 31, 2013. CP 156.

Mubarek Raheem, who was employed by MacDougall and Prince, became official counsel of record on December 16, 2013. CP 152-53, 154.

Fourteen months after the trial, Mr. Raheem filed a declaration in the superior court stating among other things, "Melissa MacDougall was qualified co-counsel on the case. During the trial itself, Melissa MacDougall did not appear at counsel table, or participate in the trial. I was aware that I was not yet qualified under CrR 3.1, Standards for Indigent Defense, to conduct a trial involving two Class A felonies by myself and had discussed that issue with Melissa MacDougall and Michael Prince prior to Mr. Flores['] trial." CP 153.

The State elicited details of a traffic stop and subsequent arrest of Mr. Flores' brother, Jesse Flores, through the testimony of Deputy Gene Davis. RP 235-40. Deputy Davis testified the vehicle was stopped for a possible DUI; Jessie Flores was the driver; he was given field sobriety tests; a pat-down revealed a switchblade and two other knives; and drugs and paraphernalia were found inside the vehicle. *Id.* Johnathon Flores was not in the vehicle or present at the scene. *Id.* Defense counsel did not object to any of this testimony. *Id.*

Over Mr. Flores' objection, the State was allowed to present evidence in its case in chief through the testimony of Weitman, the alleged victim, that Michaela Flores contacted him sometime after the incident and told him not to show up for court because Mr. Flores had kids. RP 204.

Mr. Flores had eleven prior felony convictions dated 2002 or later. CP 28. At sentencing the Court imposed discretionary costs of \$60.50 and mandatory costs of \$800³, for a total Legal Financial Obligation (LFO) of \$860.50⁴. CP 31-32. The Judgment and Sentence contained the following language:

¶ 2.5 Financial Ability. The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change.

CP 29.

The Court did not inquire into Mr. Flores' financial resources or consider the burden payment of LFOs would impose on him. RP 565-66. The Court ordered Mr. Flores to begin making payments pursuant to a DOC payroll deduction. CP 32. The Court also ordered DNA testing. CP 32

 3 \$500 Victim Assessment, \$200 criminal filing, and \$100 DNA fee. CP 19.

⁴ The judgment and sentence shows the total amount as \$1110.50 (RP 32) and the Court ordered \$1110.50 at sentencing (RP 565), but the itemization of costs imposed only adds up to \$860.50. The J&S should be corrected.

This appeal followed. CP 1.

D. ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Flores was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to object to numerous questions asked by the prosecutor on direct examination that were leading and/or elicited improper hearsay.

Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by both U.S. Const. amend. VI and Wash. Const. art. I, § 22 (amend. x). *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063-64, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *State v. Mierz*, 127 Wn.2d 460, 471, 901 P.2d 286 (1995). In *Strickland*, the Court established a two-part test for ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the defendant must show deficient performance. In this assessment, the appellate court will presume the defendant was properly represented. *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 883, 822 P.2d 177 (1991), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 856, 113 S.Ct. 164, 121 L.Ed.2d 112 (1992).

Deficient performance is not shown by matters that go to trial strategy or tactics. *State v. Garrett*, 124 Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994). However, the presumption that defense counsel performed adequately is overcome when there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance. *State v. Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004). Furthermore, there must be some indication in

the record that counsel was actually pursuing the alleged strategy. See, e.g., *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78-79, 917 P.2d 563 (1996) (the state's argument that counsel "made a tactical decision by not objecting to the introduction of evidence of ... prior convictions has no support in the record.").

Second, the defendant must show prejudice--"that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. This showing is made when there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *State v. Tilton*, 149 Wn.2d 775, 784, 72 P.3d 735 (2003), citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

The defendant, however, "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." *Id.*, citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Courts look to the facts of the individual case to see if the *Strickland* test has been met. *State v*. *Cienfuegos*, 144 Wn.2d 222, 228-29, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001).

In egregious circumstances, on testimony central to the State's case, the failure to object may constitute incompetence of counsel

justifying reversal. *State v. Neidigh*, 78 Wn. App. 71, 77, 895 P.2d 423 (1995) (*citing State v. Madison*, 53 Wn. App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662, *review denied*, 113 Wn.2d 1002, 777 P.2d 1050 (1989)). If the failure to object could have been legitimate trial strategy, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim of ineffective assistance. *Id.* (*citing State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 731, 718 P.2d 407, *cert. denied*, 479 U.S. 995, 107 S.Ct. 599, 93 L.Ed.2d 599 (1986)).

Appellate review on this issue is de novo. *State v. White*, 80 Wn. App. 406, 410, 907 P.2d 310 (1995).

Here, during its case in chief, the State asked numerous leading questions of State's witnesses on direct examination and elicited multiple hearsay statements without objection. RP 132-34, 140-41, RP 142, 147-48, 181, 186, 197, 200, 240, 245-64, 285-95, 311-17, 321-25. The following examples of questions (Q) by the prosecutor and answers (A) by State's witnesses illustrate the seriousness of defense counsel's failure to object. The suggested evidentiary violation is in bold.

This excerpt is from the direct examination of Officer Shane Schaefer by the prosecutor:

- Q: Did she [Sandra McCorkle] indicate to you what had led up to the injury to Mr. Weitman? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: She had mentioned that Faith Flores and Weitman had been in a verbal argument at McCorkle's house the night before, and that Weitman may have pushed her. At that point she indicated that Faith said she would be back with her brothers to have a talk with him. [double hearsay and not responsive to the question]
- Q: Did she indicate that they came back? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: Yes. She said that they came back the following day and they were in the house -- and they got a phone call from Weitman. At that point they decided to trick him, to invite him over to the house—[hearsay and not responsive to the question]
- Q: When she -- say "they decided," was Ms. McCorkle in on that, or what? **[leading**]
- A: Yes. At that point she said she was aware, but they told that they were not going to hurt Weitman. [hearsay and not responsive to the question]
- Q: What was described at that point? [calls for hearsay and vague]
- A: Well, -- Weitman came over to the house. He -- he had -- called asking to borrow a weedeater. He came to the house, he entered, he went over to the kitchen. The three others were hiding in the bedroom, and when he got into the kitchen they came out and they cornered him in the kitchen. [hearsay]
- Q: Did Ms. McCorkle indicate she saw -- much of the confrontation, -- or the stabbing? [leading and calls for hearsay]

- A: She did not see the stabbing. What she indicated is that when she -- when they first came out they got into a confrontation, there was a fight that started, and somebody was pushed and ended up stepping on her foot. At that point she says that Faith -- escorted her into a back bedroom and locked the door and asked her to stay in there, and then exited the room. [At] [t]hat point, -- McCorkle indicated that she heard glass breaking, and she wanted to see what was going on, and she exited the room and when she exited the room everyone --or, Weitman was gone and the -- the three others were in the living room discussing what they were going to do. But she didn't -- clarify what that was. [hearsay and not responsive to the question]
- Q: Did she indicate whether they had remained there or left? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: They ended up leaving out the front door and running, and she didn't know which direction they went. [hearsay]
- Q: Now, -- from that you -- did you get some -- some names, for example, who Spanky was, during that conversation? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: Yes. She indicated Spanky was Johnathon Flores. And then there was a Hispanic male named Jesse. [hearsay]

RP 132-34.

These next excerpts are from the direct examination of Sergeant

Jeff Koplin by the prosecutor:

- Q: And did you actually make contact with Mr. Weitman?
- A: I did.
- Q: Did you -- did he indicate any information about who may have done that? Or -- injury to him? [leading and calls for hearsay]

A: I believe he said Spanky was one of the -- there were two men that had assaulted him, one of them being Spanky, the other one he did not know their name. He said one of them was a white -- Spanky was a white male, and the other person appeared to be Hispanic to him. [hearsay]

RP 140.

Q: Did you -- So in making contact with Ms. McCorkle, was she the -- the resident or the person that was in control of that residence at 216 North Birch? [leading]

A: Yes, she was.

- Q: And did she provide you information about -- about the altercation or about an altercation? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: She said that -- the altercation had taken place inside the residence. And we asked her if the suspects were still inside the house; she said she didn't know if they were or not. [hearsay and not responsive to the question]

RP 141

- Q: Did she indicate -- Faith Flores bringing Spanky or Johnathon Flores and another male to her house earlier that day? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: She told me that they had arrived while she was in town. I don't recall if she said Faith brought them there but when she returned home they -- they were all three there is what I was told. [hearsay]
- Q: Did she indicate whether Ms. -- Mr. Weitman knew they were there when he came to her house? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: She did not to me.

- Q: Did she indicate how she believed that the suspects may have left her residence? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: She said she was -- she was unsure, she did not know if they had arrived in a vehicle or not, and she said she suspected that they'd left on foot but she didn't know for sure. [hearsay]

RP 142

- Q: Did you have information from your contact with Mr. Weitman about -- who may have been involved? [calls for hearsay]
- A: Yes. He told me that Spanky -- and -- he believed that Spanky's name was Johnathon, and he did not know the other subject with him. But he said the -- the other suspect, the Hispanic suspect, was the one that actually stabbed him. [hearsay and not responsive to the question]
- Q: Did he indicate whether just one or whether both of them 1 actually -- had assaulted him--? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: He said both of them had assaulted him. [hearsay]
- Q: Was there also discussion about Faith Flores being present -- involved? Or did you get information about -- her being a possible suspect? [leading and calls for hearsay]
- A: Yes. Faith -- Yes. He mentioned Faith Flores being there, and that Johnathon and the other subject he believed were her brothers. [hearsay and not responsive to the question]
- Q: Did you make any contact or effort to -- Sorry. Did you make any effort to contact or locate Ms. Flores?
- A: I did. Later in the evening, -- Det. Tallant told me that he -- he believed Faith was living down at -- on Fourth Avenue,

- 110 West Fourth, No. 3, in Omak. And I went down there to attempt contact with her at that residence. [hearsay]
- Q: Did you make contact with her?
- A: No. I -- I knocked on the door and a female answered the door and identified herself as Rosa Perez. [hearsay and not responsive to the question]
- Q: Did she -- Were you able to get any indication of whether Ms. Flores, Faith Flores, had been there or--? [calls for hearsay]
- A: She was not there at the time. Rosa told me that she had been there babysitting since about 14:30 hours, or 2:30 that -- that afternoon, and that Faith had said she was going grocery shopping, and she hadn't seen or heard from her since. However, she told me that Faith's Ford Ranger was now parked back outside -- little red Ford pickup. [double hearsay and not responsive to the question]

RP 147-49

The failure to object in these cited examples of blatant hearsay and leading questions constituted deficient performance by defense counsel approaching complete incompetence. Similar examples can be found throughout the record with nearly all the witnesses called in the State's case in chief. The prosecutor's direct examination of Faith Flores and Sandra McCorkle contained numerous leading questions so outrageous that it amounted to spoon-feeding the witnesses the answers the prosecutor wanted to elicit. See RP 245-63; 285-95. The tone and content of these

leading questions sounded more like cross-examination than direct examination.

The following excerpt from the direct examination of Sandra McCorkle by the prosecutor is illustrative:

- Q: Do you remember telling officers, when you gave that statement that day, that you told them after that phone call with Jeff you told them that he was on his way?
- A: Uh-huh. Yes.
- Q: You remember that? And did you tell them that they wanted him to come, meaning the defendant, Faith and Jesse, -- but you didn't initially want him to come, 'cause you wanted them to be nice to him?
- A: Yes.

. . . .

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