FILED

MAR 03, 2016

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 32507-5

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

JOHNATHON FLORES

APPELLANT,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON

RESPONDENT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

KARL F. SLOAN Prosecuting Attorney 237 4th Avenue N. P.O. Box 1130 Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone 509-422-7290 Fax

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

26

11 - 4

See e.g. *State v. O'Neal*, 126 Wn. App. 395, 409, 109 P.3d 429, 436 (2005) aff'd, 159 Wn.2d 500, 150 P.3d 1121 (2007)(cross exam by defense counsel opened the door to opinion on credibility otherwise forbidden by ER 608); *State v. Jones*, 26 Wash. App. 1, 9, 612 P.2d 404, review denied, 94 Wash.2d 1013 (1980)(court stated: it would be a curious rule of evidence which allowed one party to bring up a subject, drop it at a point where it might appear advantageous to him, and then bar the other party from all further inquiries about it).

Det. Tallant was properly able to address the statement on re-direct. There was no error when defense counsel did not object to the testimony.

b. There were not impermissible leading questions and any absence of objection did not support a claim of ineffective assistance

The trial court has broad discretion to permit leading questions and will not be reversed absent abuse of that discretion.¹³ *State v. Delarosa-Flores*, 59 Wash. App. 514, 517, 799 P.2d 736 (1990); *State v. Hakimi*, 124 Wash. App. 15, 98 P.3d 809 (2004), review denied 154 Wash.2d 1004, 113 P.3d 482. The principal test of

¹³ ER 611 states in part:

⁽a) Control by Court. The court shall exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of interrogating witnesses and presenting evidence so as to (1) make the interrogation and presentation effective for the ascertainment of the truth, (2) avoid needless consumption of time, and (3) protect witnesses from harassment or undue embarrassment....

⁽b) Leading Questions. Leading questions should not be used on the direct examination of a witness except as may be necessary to develop the witness' testimony. Ordinarily leading questions should be permitted on cross-examination. When a party calls a hostile witness, an adverse party, or a witness identified with an adverse party, interrogation may be by leading questions.

a leading question is: Does it suggest the answer desired? In order to elicit the facts, a trial lawyer may find it necessary to direct the attention of a witness to the specific matter concerning which his testimony is desired, and, if the question does not suggest the answer, it is not leading. *State v. Scott*, 20 Wash. 2d 696, 698-699, 149 P.2d 152, 153-54 (1944))

Even though the question may call for a yes or a no answer, it is not leading for that reason, unless it is so worded that, by permitting the witness to answer yes or no, he would be testifying in the language of the interrogator rather than in his own. *Scott*, 20 Wash. 2d at 699.

Where the Appellant has complained of leading questions, those questions were routinely followed by detailed answers rather than simple yes or no responses. The questions were not leading, as they did not suggest the answer by merely directing the witness to the particular facts that were being asked about.

Even if it were assumed leading questions had been objected to, and the objection sustained, the information would have been likely been admitted through the next question. Considering the record, the defendant cannot demonstrate that leading questions prejudiced him, and that the form of the questions materially affected the outcome of trial.

c. Evidence of the arrest of the co-defendant was admissible and lack of objection did not support a claim of ineffective assistance.

Appellant also argues trial counsel's failure to object to testimony about the arrest of Jesse Flores was ineffective assistance of counsel. As discussed above, there is no basis to find ineffective assistance based on an alleged failure to object.

There was no basis to exclude testimony regarding the arrest of Jesse Flores. Mr. Flores was one of three identified suspects and was actively being sought by police. He used a knife to stab the victim. The victim described the knife as having a black handle and a blade between approximately 3 to 6 inches in length. At the time of his arrest, Jesse Flores possessed several knives; all of which had black handles, and were similar in size to the one used to stab the victim. The evidence was admissible and relevant to the crime in which Jesse Flores and the defendant were accomplices.

Moreover, the defense called Jesse Flores as a witness. Jesse Flores testified about many of the same facts as the State's witnesses, and added that he was "high" at the time of the attack. He testified to his involvement in the attack and his resulting criminal convictions.

There was no prejudice admitting testimony regarding the arrest of Jesse Flores and discovery of the knives.

d. Inability to call impeachment witnesses did not support a claim of ineffective assistance.

Appellant also argues trial counsel's failure to question the victim about previous statements was ineffective assistance of counsel. As discussed above, there is no basis to support a finding of ineffective assistance. Counsel's reliance on *State v*. *Horton*, 116 Wn. App. 909, 68 P.3d 1145, 1152 (2003) is misplaced. In *Horton*, the court found defense counsel could have defused a statement elicited from the victim by presenting evidence of earlier inconsistent statements not to one, but to two, persons whose credibility would have been hard to assail (i.e. a neutral CPS investigator, and the victim's long-time friend). *Horton*, 116 Wn. App. at 922.

That is far from the circumstances in the present case. The victim testified he told Michaela Flores he would probably not show up in court. Defense initially indicated to the court that they did not intend to call the witness Michaela Flores for impeachment purposes. Unlike in *Horton*, the defendant's wife would not have been unassailable. Her alleged allegations were not credible in light of the testimony from the victim, Faith Flores, Sandra McCorkle, Jesse Flores; or in light of the defendant's attempt to construct an alibi witness through Jana Mason.

Moreover, the victim indicated to police at the time of the incident, and at trial, that Jesse Flores was the person who pulled the knife and was the one who inflicted the stab wound. On cross exam, the victim said that Jesse was aggressive to him on the phone prior to the attack, and John Flores was not aggressive when he spoke with him on the phone. RP 207-208.

The allegations attributed to Ms. Flores for potential impeachment, would have been of minimal evidentiary value even if found admissible, and would not have addressed the defendant's clear culpability as an accomplice in the crimes.¹⁴

Similarly, the proposed statement from Mr. Gains was found not to be inconsistent with the testimony of the victim. It was not proper impeachment.

Although the defense attempt to present impeachment evidence did not proceed as anticipated, it does not give rise to a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel.

2. <u>Any claimed errors were harmless based on the overwhelming evidence.</u>

Generally, when an error is constitutional, the State must show that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McReynolds*, 117 Wn. App. 309, 326, 71 P.3d 663, 670 (2003). An error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if untainted evidence admitted at trial is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. *State v. Thompson*, 151 Wn.2d 793, 808, 92 P.3d 228 (2004). If error is not one of constitutional magnitude, reversal is not required unless the defendant can show that "within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." *State v. Roche*, 75 Wash. App. 500, 509, 878 P.2d 497, 502 (1994)

¹⁴ Arguably, where accomplice liability is asserted, a claim that the defendant "didn't do it" would be an impermissible legal conclusion under ER 701.

(quoting *State v. Ray*, 116 Wash.2d 531, 546, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991); *State v. Smith*, 106 Wash.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986)).

Even if the Court were to find error, the evidence was so overwhelming that it would lead to a finding of guilt. Here the defendant was alleged to have acted as a principal or accomplice. Even fully accepting the defendant's theory of the case the defendant was guilty as an accomplice. The defendant encouraged, requested, and/ or aided Jesse Flores and Faith Flores in planning and committing the crime, with knowledge that it would promote or facilitate the crime. The defendant told the victim he was coming to "talk" to him, he arranged transportation to and from the crime scene, knew Jesse Flores possessed and threatened the victim with a knife before stabbing him, and prevented the victim from escaping until he had given up his property. Those facts established more than mere presence.

However, the totality of evidence presented at trial went far beyond those facts conceded to by defense. Any claimed error was harmless.

3. Appellant lacks standing to challenge RCW 43.43.7541.

Appellant asks this Court to find that RCW 43.43.7541 violates the constitutional guarantees of substantive due process and equal protection when applied to defendants who lack the present or likely future ability to pay the \$100 fee. Because Appellant has not been found to be constitutionally indigent and has suffered no injury in fact, he lacks standing to challenge the statute.

A person cannot challenge the constitutionality of a statute unless he or she has been adversely affected by the provisions claimed to be unconstitutional. State v. Lundquist, 60 Wash. 2d 397, 401, 374 P.2d 246 (1962). To establish standing, Appellant must show (1) that he is within the zone of interests to be protected by the constitutional guarantee in guestion, and (2) that he has suffered an injury in fact, economic or otherwise. Branson v. Port of Seattle, 152 Wash. 2d 862, 875-76, 101 P.3d 67 (2004). The injury must be "fairly traceable to the challenged conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief". State v. Johnson, 179 Wash. 2d 534, 552, 315 P.3d 1090, as amended (Mar. 13, 2014). cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 139, 190 L. Ed. 2d 105 (2014) (quoting High Tide Seafoods v. State, 106 Wash. 2d 695, 702, 725 P.2d 411 (1986)). The injury must be "(a) concrete and particularized, and (b) actual or imminent, not 'conjectural' or 'hypothetical." United States v. Vasquez-Landaver, 527 F.3d 798, 811 (9th Cir. 2008) (quoting Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560, 112 S. Ct. 2130, 119 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1992)). Where a party lacks standing to assert a claim, courts must refrain from reaching the merits of that claim, Johnson, 179 Wash. 2d at 552 (citing Org. to Pres. Agr. Lands v. Adams Cty., 128 Wash. 2d 869, 896, 913 P.2d 793 (1996)).

Appellant does not attempt to establish standing to challenge the statute in this case. Presumably, he would argue that the imposition of the mandatory fee without regard to his ability to pay unfairly subjects him to the possibility of future

punishment if he is unable to pay due to indigence. Indeed, "the due process and equal protection clauses prevent a state from invidiously discriminating against, or arbitrarily punishing, indigent defendants for their failure to pay fines they cannot pay." *Johnson*, 179 Wash. 2d at 552 (citing *Bearden v. Georgia*, 461 U.S. 660, 103 S. Ct. 2064, 76 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1983)).

In *State v. Blank*, 131 Wash. 2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997), our supreme court clarified the imposition of fees against an indigent party as a part of sentencing is not constitutionally forbidden. It is at the point of enforced collection that a defendant may assert a constitutional objection on the ground of indigency.¹⁵ *Curry*, 118 Wash. 2d 911. Even at the point of collection, it is only if the defendant is "constitutionally indigent" that a constitutional violation occurs. *Johnson*, 179 Wash. 2d at 553.

While there is no precise definition of constitutional indigence, "*Bearden* essentially mandates that we examine the totality of the defendant's financial circumstances to determine whether he or she is constitutionally indigent in the face of a particular fine." *Johnson*, 179 Wash. 2d at 553. A finding of statutory indigence does not establish constitutional indigence. *Johnson*, 179 Wash. 2d at 553, 555. Thus, in *Johnson*, 179 Wash. 2d 534, our supreme court rejected a challenge to the driving while license suspended statute based on a claim of

¹⁵ As argued in the following section of this brief, the fact that the State has not yet attempted to enforce collection makes Appellant's claim unripe.

indigence because Johnson, while statutorily indigent, was not constitutionally indigent and therefore not in the class protected by the *Johnson*, 179 Wash. 2d at 555.

It is up to the party seeking review of an issue to provide an adequate record for review. *City of Spokane v. Neff*, 152 Wash. 2d 85, 91, 93 P.3d 158 (2004). The record contains no evidence demonstrating *constitutional* indigence. The relevant "constitutional considerations protect only the constitutionally indigent"; Appellant can demonstrate no injury in fact and therefore lacks standing. *Johnson*, 179 Wash. 2d at 555. This Court should decline to address the merits of his claims.

4. <u>The court should not reach the merits of the claim because it is not</u> ripe for review.

Even if Appellant has standing to bring this constitutional challenge, the issue is not ripe for review. Generally, "challenges to orders establishing legal financial sentencing conditions that do not limit a defendant's liberty are not ripe for review until the State attempts to curtail a defendant's liberty by enforcing them." *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wash. App. 96, 108, 308 P.3d 755 (2013). It is only when the State attempts to collect or impose punishment against an indigent person for failure to pay that constitutional principles are implicated. State v. *Curry*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 917, 829 P.2d 166 (1992).¹⁶

¹⁶ Our supreme court adhered to this position in *Blank*, 131 Wash. 2d 230, when it held that an inquiry into defendant's ability to pay is not constitutionally required before imposing a repayment

Where nothing in the record reflects that the State has attempted to collect the DNA fee, any challenge to the order requiring payment on hardship grounds is not yet ripe for review. *Lundy*, 176 Wash. App. at 109. Because the issue is unripe, this Court should decline to reach its merits.

5. <u>The alleged errors are not manifest constitutional errors and should</u> not be reviewed under rap 2.5.

Appellant did not object to the DNA collection or to imposition of the DNA fee in the trial court. Accordingly, RAP 2.5(a) bars consideration of his claims.

A claim of error may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right". RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wash. 2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995), *as amended* (Sept. 13, 1995). Not every constitutional error falls within this exception; the defendant must show that the error occurred and that it caused actual prejudice to the defendant's rights. *McFarland*, 127 Wash. 2d at 333. If the facts necessary to adjudicate the issue are not in the record, the error is not manifest. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wash. 2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009), *as corrected* (Jan. 21, 2010).

obligation in a judgment and sentence, as long as the court must determine whether the defendant is able to pay before sanctions are sought for nonpayment. *Blank*, 131 Wash. 2d at 239-42. The point of enforced collection or sanctions for nonpayment is the appropriate time to discern the individual's ability to pay because before that point, "it is nearly impossible to predict ability to pay[.]" *Blank*, 131 Wash. 2d at 242. "If at that time defendant is unable to pay through no fault of his own, *Bearden* and like cases indicate constitutional principles are implicated". *Blank*, 131 Wash. 2d at 242.

Here, Appellant's constitutional claims depend on his present and future inability to pay the mandatory DNA fee. However, as discussed above, there is no evidence in the record to show whether Appellant is constitutionally indigent, so the error is not manifest within the meaning of RAP 2.5(a). Similarly, Appellant's claim that the trial court erred by requiring him to submit a DNA sample because he had given one before (discussed more below) relies on the proposition that he had in fact submitted a sample in the past. That is not evident in the record either, so that alleged error is also not manifest.

State v. Blazina, 182 Wash. 2d 827, 832, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Thus, where defendants fail to object to the LFOs at sentencing, it is appropriate for appellate courts to decline review. *Blazina*, 182 Wash. 2d at 834. Because Appellant failed to raise the issue below, precluding development of an adequate record, this Court should decline review.

6. Appellant fails to show that the DNA fee statute violates due process.

Appellant presents an as-applied constitutional challenge to RCW 43.43.7541. Even if this Court reaches the merits of the issue, Appellant cannot meet his burden to prove that the DNA fee statute is unconstitutional.

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